
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session. 

Please ask for: 
Graham Seal 

 
 

25 August 2017 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STANDARDS Committee to be held on Monday 4 September 2017 at 6.30 pm in the 
Council Chamber, Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, Herts, AL8 6AE. 
 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
Executive Director 
Public Protection, Planning and Governance 
 
 
 

A G E N D A 
PART 1 

 

1.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS BY MEMBERS  
 

 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-
disclosable pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of 
items on this Agenda. 

  
 

3.   MINUTES  
 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting on 5 June 2017 
(Circulated separately). 
 
 

Public Document Pack



4.   NOTIFICATION OF URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 8  
 

5.   MEMBER OFFICER PROTOCOL (Pages 3 - 18) 
 

 Report of the Executive Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
which provides Members with details of the Member/Officer Protocol and which 
asks for feedback and comments on the document. 
 

6.   LOCAL GOVERNMENT OMBUDSMAN REPORT (Pages 19 - 36) 
 

 Report of the Executive Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
which provides Members with details of the complaints made to the Local 
Government Ombudsman and statistics on those which were investigated and the 
outcome of any investigations. 
 

7.   SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIR, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION  
 

8.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 The Committee is asked to resolve: 
  

That under Section 100(A) (2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and public be now excluded from the meeting for item 12 (if any) on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt 
information as defined in Section 100A (3) and Part I of Schedule 12A of the 
said Act as amended. 
  
In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs 
the public interest in disclosing the information. 

 

9.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF AN EXEMPT NATURE AT THE DISCRETION OF 
THE CHAIR  
 

 
Circulation: Councillors J.Dean (Chairman) 

B.Fitzsimon 
S.Markiewicz 
 

S.Roberts 
P.Zukowskyj 
J Blackburn 
 

   
 
 Executive Board 

Press and Public (except Part II Items) 
 
If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Graham 
Seal  01707 357444  democracy@welhat.gov.uk, Governance Services Unit on 01707 
357444 or email – g.seal@welhat.gov.uk  
 

mailto:g.seal@welhat.gov.uk


- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Margaret Martinus 
Executive Member: Roger Trigg 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE – 4 SEPTEMBER 2017 
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE) 

REVIEW OF PROTOCOL ON MEMBER/OFFICER RELATIONS 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 At the last meeting of this committee, Members of this Committee agreed to 
review the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations (the Protocol) and if 
appropriate, to make recommendations to Council with any proposed changes. 

1.2 This report attaches the Protocol at Appendix A, for discussion by Members. The 
suggested tracked changes on the Protocol arise from feedback and comments 
received from Heads of Service representing their services. 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That the Committee reviews the Protocol with suggested tracked changes at 
Appendix A and make any appropriate recommendations to Council. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 The Protocol forms part of the Council’s Constitution at Part 5 and seeks to 
provide guidance to Members and Officers in their relations with one another, so 
as to assist in the proper running of the Council. 

3.2 Following the agreement of this Committee to review the Protocol, it was 
circulated to Heads of Service and the Executive Board in June 2017, with the 
request that Heads of Service consult with their areas and provide any feedback 
and /or comments on the Protocol with its current wording. 

3.3 Some updating or clarification amendments were received which have been 
tracked onto the current document at Appendix A. 

3.4 Other feedback received can be grouped into the following areas: 

3.5 Paragraph 1, bullet point 4- definition of ‘close personal familiarity’. Views were 
expressed that this was unclear, uncertain and open to interpretation. It was 
considered that a definition and some actual examples would give this more 
clarity and avoid misunderstandings. The tracked changes attempt to address 
this and have been suggested by reviewing other similar protocols. 

3.6 Paragraph 1, bullet point 10- ‘Members should accept and act on the 
professional advice given to them by Officers unless they have good reasons not 
to do so’. Views were expressed that this should be made clearer and that 
Members should recognise the ramifications of not accepting and acting on 
professional advice given by Officers. The tracked change attempts to clarify this. 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



- 2 - 

3.7 Paragraph 1, bullet point 12- wording of ‘Officers should provide efficient support 
to Members at all times’. Views were expressed that the use of ‘at all times’ 
should be amended to reflect the actual position, in that Members should have 
the support they need from appropriate officers but that a blanket requirement of 
all officers was not the actual position nor required. The tracked change attempts 
to clarify this. 

3.8 Paragraph 1, bullet point 13- ‘ improper disclosure of information between 
Members and Officers’ Queries were raised about what information is covered by 
‘improper disclosure’. The suggestion was that this was defined to ensure that all 
parties were clear about what was covered. The tracked change attempts to 
clarify this. 

3.9 Paragraph 2- Suggested tracked change to remind Members they are covered by 
Code of Conduct for Members whenever they act in their official capacity as 
Members. 

3.10 Paragraph 9- ‘provision of information to Members in order to properly discharge 
their representative roles’- Views were expressed that sometimes such 
information would not be disclosable, if the matter was the subject of legal or 
criminal proceedings. The proposed tracked change seeks to clarify this point. 

3.11 Paragraphs 10 and 12- Members’ access to information – to clarify the 
consequences of such disclosure that is, a potential breach of the Code of 
Conduct for Members or legal breach. 

3.12 Paragraph 12- clarification on the ‘pre-election period’. 

3.13 Paragraph 14- to clarify that Members should take no part in officer appointments 
where they have a personal interest. 

3.14 Paragraph 14- the Members’ Appeals Committee no longer exists and therefore 
all references to this have been taken out. 

 

Implications 

 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 It is within the Standard Committee’s Terms of Reference to advise the Council 
upon the contents of and requirements for codes/protocols/other procedures 
relating to standards of conduct throughout the Council. 

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations in 
this report. 

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 The risks related to this proposal are: 

Page 4



- 3 - 

6.2 Legal and Reputational- Non-compliance with the Protocol may result in a legal 
and reputational risk to the Council, Members and Officers. The impact would be 
high but likelihood considered low. 

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 None identified. 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 None identified. 

 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 None identified. 

10 Link to Corporate Priorities 

10.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s corporate priority of engaging 
with our communities and providing value for money. Good governance in local 
authorities promotes lawful, open, transparent and accountable local government 
for our borough. In promoting and practicing good governance, this in turn 
reduces the likelihood of legal challenges and reduces the cost to the rate payer 
in engaging in legal proceedings. 

11 Equality and Diversity 

11.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out in connection with 
the proposals that are set out in this report because this relates to the review of a 
governance protocol. 

 
 
Name of author Margaret Martinus 01707 357 575 
Title Head of Law and Administration and Monitoring Officer 
Date 21 August 2017 
 
 
 
Background papers to be listed (if applicable) :  

None 

Appendices to be listed : 

Appendix A Protocol on Member/Officer Relations with suggested tracked changes. 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 
 
 

PROTOCOL ON MEMBER/OFFICER RELATIONS 
 
 
The purpose of this Protocol is to guide Members and Officers in their relations with 
one another so as to assist in the proper running of the Council. 
 
 
1. THE PRINCIPLES UNDERLYING MEMBER – OFFICER RELATIONS 
 

 A good working relationship between Members and Officers is essential to 
the proper functioning of the Council. 

 

 Members and Officers have distinct but complementary roles and 
responsibilities and are indispensable to one another. 

 

 Mutual respect between Members and Officers is essential to good local 
government. 

 
Close personal familiarity between Officers and individual Members can damage a 
good working relationship and should be avoided.  If it exists it should be declared. It 
is not possible to define exactly the range of relationships that would be considered 
as close or personal. Examples, however, would include a family, business or sexual 
relationship or regular social mixing such as holidays, networking, outings or meals 
together. 

 The political neutrality of Officers must be respected and observed at all 
times. 

 

 Officers must serve all Members not just those of any particular group 
 

 Officers must not allow their own personal or political opinions to interfere 
with their work 

 

 Members need professional assistance and support from Officers in order 
to be effective in their various roles. 

 

 Members should accept and act on the professional advice given to them 
by Officers unless they have good reasons not to do so. Members should 
recognise that a failure to accept and act on Officers’ professional advice 
may result in legal and other challenges to the Council’s decisions. 

 

 Members should not put unreasonable demands on Officers and must 
never ask Officers to breach any Council procedure, policy or legal 
requirement. 

 

 Officers should provide efficient support to Members as is appropriate and 
required by the Officer’s role. 

 

 There should be no improper disclosure of information between Members 
and Officers. Improper disclosure of information would include the 

Page 7



disclosure of any personal, confidential, sensitive, medical, legally 
privileged, commercial or similar information without the consent of the 
information owner or in breach of a legal duty of confidentiality. 

 

 Members should not raise matters relating to the conduct or capability of 
an Officer in any public forum including a committee meeting. 

 

Page 8



2. THE ROLE OF MEMBERS 
 

Members of the Council have a complex role and have to act in a number of 
capacities. 

 
The representative role – Members are accountable to the electorate who 
elect them and have an important role in expressing the wishes of the 
electorate, which will involve representing ward interests and representing 
individuals as occasion arises. 

 
The role as a Member of the Council and its Committees – Members have 
individual and collective responsibility in properly fulfilling the role as a 
Member of full Council or serving on a Council Committee. 

 
The role as an office holder  - Members who are appointed to the Cabinet or 
are appointed as Committee Chairmen, Vice Chairmen etc. will have 
individual and collective responsibility for performing these roles effectively. 

 
The role as a Member of a political group – Members will usually belong to 
a political group represented officially on the Council and will be free to 
express political values and support the policies of the Group to which they 
belong. 
 
Members are required to adhere at all times to the Council’s adopted Code of 
Conduct for Members whenever they are acting in their official capacity. 

 
3. THE ROLE OF OFFICERS 
 

Officers are employees of and responsible to the Council.  Their role is to 
carry out the Council’s work in accordance with the policy and budgetary 
framework agreed by the Council and under the direction as to 
implementation of the Cabinet.  They are responsible for assisting in the work 
of the Council Committees, sub committees and the overview and scrutiny 
function.  Officers also have responsibility for supporting Members in their 
various roles, by the provision of advice and support as appropriate. 

 
In addition, certain Officers hold the statutory posts of Head of Paid Services, 
the Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) and the Monitoring Officer. 

 
4. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN MAYOR OF THE COUNCIL AND 

OFFICERS 
 

The Mayor is appointed annually from the Membership of the Council.  The 
principles which underlie Member/Officer relations therefore also apply to the 
relationship between the Mayor and Officers.  However the position as Mayor 
carries with it specific civic and ceremonial duties and Officers will provide 
support to assist the Mayor in the performance of the civic and ceremonial 
role.  This will include the provision of support in organising the calendar of 
civic events, transport arrangements and administrative support in dealing 
with complaints addressed directly to the Mayor.  Support will also be 
provided to the Mayor on implementation of the Council’s Procedure Rules to 
assist in the chairing of meetings of the Council. 

Page 9



 
  

Page 10



5. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE LEADER AND MEMBERS OF THE 
CABINET AND OFFICERS 

 
The Leader and Members of the Cabinet are appointed by the Council from 
serving Members.  In addition to the principles which underlie the relationship 
between Members and Officers there are some additional requirements in 
connection with the relationship between the Cabinet and Officers. 
 
The Cabinet will be involved in preparing the policy and budgetary framework 
for agreement by the Council.  These responsibilities will require a close 
working relationship with Officers.   
 
The following principles shall apply to facilitate this working relationship. 
 

 Officers shall make themselves available to brief and advise the Leader 
and other Members of the Cabinet outside the formal decision making 
process in connection with executive matters at all reasonable times. 

 

 Officers shall keep the detail of such meetings confidential together with 
the associated papers. 

 

 Officers shall make themselves available to advise Executive Members at 
all reasonable times in connection with the discharge of executive 
functions. 

 
6. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE CHAIRMEN AND MEMBERS OF 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY AND OFFICERS 
 

Members exercising overview and scrutiny functions will be serving Members 
from outside the Cabinet.  In order for such functions to be effective the 
following principles will apply in connection with the relationship with Officers 
in addition to the underlying principles governing Member/Officer 
relationships.  These principles shall be applied to accord at all times with the 
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules for the operation of the Overview and 
Scrutiny function which are set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 

 Officers shall respond to requests from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees for information which is necessary in order for those 
Committees to discharge their functions. 

 

 Officers shall provide support to Members exercising overview and 
scrutiny functions which will include giving advice and assistance and 
providing written reports on matters within their remit. 

 

 Officers shall attend before the Overview and Scrutiny Committees to 
answer questions posed by Members of those Committees in connection 
with the reasonable discharge of their functions.  Such questions may 
include requiring Officers to state and explain the advice they have given 
the Cabinet in connection with an executive decision or matter that the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee is reviewing. 

 

Page 11



7. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN CHAIRMEN AND MEMBERS OF OTHER 
COMMITTEES AND OFFICERS 

 
There will be non-executive Committees exercising regulatory and licensing 
functions, for example, Development Management Committee and the 
Hackney Carriage Committee.  Again the principles underlying 
Member/Officer relations apply to such Committee Members and Officers. 

 
In addition Officers will provide administrative and professional support and 
advice to such Committees pursuant to their functions. 

 
8. OFFICER RELATIONSHIPS WITH PARTY GROUPS 
 

Party groups are an integral part of the way the Council works and it is a 
proper function of Officers to support and contribute to party group 
consideration if required.  In practice this is most likely to be for the majority 
group, although Officer support is available to all party groups. 

 
In connection with Officer relationships with party groups the following 
principles shall apply. 

 

 Any attendance of an Officer at a meeting of a party group shall be with 
the prior agreement of the Chief Executive (unless it is a general briefing 
meeting prior to a Committee). 

 

 Officers will provide factual information and advice only on areas within 
their professional remit and in relation to issues currently or shortly to be 
considered by the Council, whether relating to executive or non-executive 
functions, provided that the request does not relate to an individual matter 
such as a planning application, or does not disclose information given at 
confidential briefings with the Cabinet.  The provision of such Officer 
information and advice cannot act as a substitute for providing all 
necessary information and advice to the ultimate decision making body. 

 

 Any such meeting will be held at the Council offices. 
 

 The only other persons present at such a meeting should be Members of 
the Council.   

 

 Officers must leave group meetings before groups enter into political 
discussion.  Group Members should refrain from political comment until 
the Officer concerned has left the meeting. 

 

 Officers must not disclose the nature of any business conducted at party 
group meetings. 

 
Group leaders and the Chief Executive will formally meet jointly at regular 
intervals on a basis to be determined between them.  This should not inhibit 
any Member seeking a meeting with the Chief Executive or appropriate 
Executive Director in connection with a matter affecting the Council. 
 

Page 12



Groups, through their Leaders, may require to be briefed by the Chief 
Executive or appropriate Executive Director on the business of the Council.  
Such a briefing will be treated with whatever level of confidentiality the group 
requires. 

 
9. MEMBERS IN THEIR WARD ROLES AND OFFICERS 
 

It is necessary for Members, in order to properly discharge their 
representative roles, to be provided with information on items which affect 
their Wards.  Members are entitled to such information unless the work 
required to supply the information is out of proportion to the benefit or cannot 
be disclosed by the Officer due to legal reasons.  Requests for information 
should be directed to Officers with management responsibilities. 

 
Members will also receive administrative support to facilitate the holding of 
surgeries within their respective Wards.  This support together with items such 
as computers are provided to Members to assist them in discharging their role 
as Members of the Council. 

 
10. MEMBER ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS AND INFORMATION 
 

The principles which govern Members right of access to documents and 
information are as follows. 

 

 The proper running of the Council requires Members to be fully informed 
on items on which they are required to make decisions or which affect their 
Wards and to support overview and scrutiny. 
 

 In principle, information is the property of the whole Council, but there are 
circumstances recognised by statute where it is reasonable to restrict 
circulation. 

 

 The legal rights of Members to access Council documents for the purpose 
of fulfilling their functions as Members will be respected at all times.   

 

 Members’ rights to access to documents relate to documents in the 
possession of the Council and not, for example, documents in the 
possession of a particular party/political group. 

 

 Any document or information provided to Members will only be used in 
connection with the proper performance of the Member’s duties as a 
Member of the Council. 

 

 There will be no leaking of confidential documents or information to third 
parties e.g. the press which, if proven, could constitute a breach of the 
Code of Conduct for Members or a legal obligation. 

 
The legal right of access 
 
Members have the right to see documents containing information relating to 
any business to be transacted at Council/Committees/Panel/Cabinet meetings 
(regardless of whether they are Members of such bodies).  Excluded from 

Page 13



this right are documents containing certain exempt information relating to 
individuals, terms to be proposed by or to the Council in the course of 
negotiations for a contract, labour relations matters, information where a claim 
to legal professional privilege could be maintained and information relating to 
any action in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of 
crime. 
 
The same right of access applies to documents relating to decisions made by 
individual Cabinet Members and any key decisions made by Officers once the 
decisions are made.  The same exclusion from the right of access applies in 
relation to certain confidential/exempt information, as detailed in the above 
paragraph. 
 
For the purposes of overview and scrutiny access by Members exercising 
those functions to any confidential/exempt information is permitted if such 
information is relevant to the work of overview and scrutiny. 
 
Members also have the legal rights available to the public to inspect agendas, 
reports, minutes and background papers on the public part of agendas. 
 
In addition to these statutory rights any Member has a common law right to 
inspect any document if they have a “need to know” i.e. if it is reasonably 
necessary to fulfil their duties as a Member. 
 
A Member will normally have a “need to know” if he/she is a Member of the 
Committee/decision making body which is responsible for the service to which 
the document  relates or it is relevant to their responsibilities as a Ward 
Member. 
 
In cases where Members are not entitled to access to documents either by 
virtue of statute or common law, access to otherwise confidential/exempt 
documents e.g. because they relate to personal circumstances or contain 
commercially sensitive information, will have to be justified by Members. 
 
Information – Members are free to ask Officers for information, explanation 
and advice as they may need to help them discharge their role, but there may 
be circumstances where the work required to supply the information is out of 
proportion to the benefit or cannot be disclosed for legal reasons.  Requests 
for information will also be refused if it clearly is being requested for a political 
purpose or some other improper purpose e.g. to assist an individual to take or 
contest action by the Council.  Further, compliance with data protection 
principles may limit the ability of Officers to comply with a Member’s request. 
 
Any dispute relating to a Member’s right to access documents or information 
should be referred to the Executive Director (Public Protection, Planning and 
Governance) for decision. 

 
11. CO-OPTED MEMBERS 
 

Individuals who are not Members of the Council may be co-opted onto 
decision making bodies from time to time.  For example Overview and 

Page 14



Scrutiny Committees are given specific power to co-opt Members onto their 
Committees to assist their work. 

 
This Protocol on Member/Officer relations will apply to the extent necessary to 
enable co-opted Members to properly discharge their functions.  Co-opted 
Members with voting rights are also required to comply with the Local Code of 
Conduct for Members. 

 
12. PUBLIC RELATIONS AND PRESS RELEASES 
 

The Policy and Communications Service serves the Council as a whole and 
operates within the limits of the Local Government Act 1986 which prohibits 
the Council from publishing material which appears to be designed to effect 
public support for a political party. 

 
All press releases issued by the Council and in the Council’s name shall only 
contain factual information.  The Council press releases are drafted by 
Officers.  Where such releases contain quotations from Members (within the 
limits of the Local Government Act 1986) those Members whose quotations 
are being used must be consulted. 

 
Press releases relating to Committee items will be prepared by the Policy and 
Communications Manager in consultation with the author of the report, the 
relevant Executive Director and the Chairman of the relevant Committee.  
Those relating to executive functions will be prepared in consultation with the 
relevant executive Member. 

 
All press releases will be copied to the Mayor, the Leader and all Group 
rooms at the time of release to the press, and will be available on the 
Council’s web site. 

 
When a Member is quoted, their political affiliation will not be specified.  In 
press releases where there are no Member quotations, non-political 
quotations from Officers will be acceptable. 
 
In pre-election periods, also known as ‘purdah’, it may not be appropriate to 
attribute statements to Members and an Officer statement may be issued 
instead. 
 
Media briefings may be called by the Chief Executive in consultation with the 
Leader of the Council or appropriate executive Member and attended by an 
Officer from the Policy and Communications Service. 
 
Press requests for information or comment from the Council will be referred 
by the Policy and Communications Service, to the Chief Executive, or relevant 
Executive Director (or other senior officer directly responsible for the matter 
concerned) except where a response has been pre-agreed or is a matter of 
basic information which has already been a Part 1 Item.  The Policy and 
Communications Service should be kept informed of all direct approaches by 
the press and other media and the information and comment supplied.  
Members contacting or contacted by the media should indicate in what 
capacity they are speaking e.g. in a personal capacity, as Ward Member, as 

Page 15



Chairman of a Committee, on behalf of the Council or on behalf of a political 
group.   Where any matters of policy or of a controversial nature relating to 
Council business are concerned, the Leader or appropriate portfolio holder or 
Committee Chairman must be informed as soon as possible and given an 
opportunity to respond, with assistance of the Policy and Communications 
Manager. 
 
“Photo opportunities” will be arranged for the Mayor, Deputy Mayor, Chairman 
of relevant Committees, Leader or relevant portfolio holder in connection with 
Council business or civic duties. 
 
Local journalists will be encouraged to exercise their right to attend all public 
meetings of the Council, its Committees and the Cabinet. 

 
13. CORRESPONDENCE 
 

Correspondence between an individual Member and an Officer, particularly 
when it has been initiated by the Member, should not normally be copied (by 
the Officer) to any other Member other than the appropriate Group Leader.  
Where exceptionally it is necessary to copy the correspondence to another 
Member, this should be made clear to the original Member.  In other words, a 
system of “silent copies” should not be employed. 

 
Official letters on behalf of the Council should normally be sent in the name of 
the appropriate Officer, rather than in the name of a Member.  It may be 
appropriate in certain circumstances (e.g. representations to a Government 
Minister) for a letter to appear in the name of a Member, but this should be the 
exception rather than the norm.  Letters which, for example, create obligations 
or give instructions on behalf of the Council should never be sent out in the 
name of a Member. 

 
14. THE APPOINTMENT AND DISCIPLINE OF OFFICERS 
 

Members taking part in the recruitment of Officers should judge candidates on 
merit in accordance with the Council’s Recruitment and Selection Policy, and 
may only participate in Appointment Panels if they have undertaken 
appropriate training in recruitment and selection.  Members must not seek to 
influence appointments made by Panels to which they do not belong or 
otherwise seek support for any candidate, or give any particular candidate 
information not available to others, or participate in recruitment where friends, 
relatives, partners or members of their household are candidates or promote 
these job applications with officers in any way. 

 
   
 
If a Member has any concerns about  the conduct or capability of an Officer 
then the Member should report it to the appropriate Manager.  They must not 
however seek to influence any subsequent disciplinary procedure conducted 
by the Manager.  Further, Members must never seek to influence any 
disciplinary matter heard by a Member Committee to which they do not 
belong.  (Any concerns which Officers have regarding a Members’ conduct 
should be raised with the Monitoring Officer). 

Page 16



 
15. EMPLOYMENT NEGOTIATIONS 
 

Members who are involved in employment negotiations do so in the role of 
employer.  Members who are Members of a trade union must not serve on 
bodies which have a responsibility for negotiating with that trade union. 

 
A Member may be asked for advice and assistance by an Officer who is one 
of his/her constituents on issues not directly connected with the Officer’s 
employment with the Council.  However it is not appropriate for Members to 
be approached by Officers on issues relating to their employment and if this 
occurs, Members should advise the Officer concerned to use the proper 
procedures. 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Suzanne Hulks 
Executive Member: Roger Trigg 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE – 4 SEPTEMBER 2017 
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE) 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT & SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN – ANNUAL REVIEW 
LETTER 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGO) prepares an annual 
summary of statistics on the complaints made to the LGO about Welwyn Hatfield 
Borough Council. 

1.2 The report is for the year ended 31 March 2017.  

1.3 There is a statutory duty for the Council to report to Members on adverse 
outcomes of complaints formally investigated by the LGO. 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 Members are asked to note the number of complaints and enquiries received, the 
decisions made and the outcome of the detailed investigations. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 The LGO prepares an annual report which details the number of complaints and 
enquiries received about the Council and the decisions that the LGO made 
during the period (Appendix A). 

3.2 The report shows a breakdown of the upheld complaints and shows how these 
were remedied (Appendices B & C).  This includes cases where 
recommendations from the LGO remedied the fault and those where the Council 
had offered satisfactory remedy during the local complaints process. 

3.3 The data included in the report is published on the website of the LGO. 

3.4 There were 27 complaints and enquiries received by the LGO during the year 
and decisions were made on 22 of these. 

3.5 Of the two complaints that were subject to a detailed investigation, only one was 
upheld.  

3.6 The upheld decision was in respect of a planning application and the LGO 
recommended that the Council made a compensation payment of £100 to the 
complainant.  Full details of the decision can be found at Appendix D. 

 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



- 2 - 

Implications 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 There is a statutory requirement for Members to be informed of adverse 
outcomes of complaints formally investigated by the Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman. 

4.2 Full Council has delegated to the Standards Committee the responsibility for 
maintaining oversight of the Council’s arrangements for dealing with complaints. 

5 Financial Implication(s) 

Where complaints are made against the authority and upheld by the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman, the Council could be liable to 
reimburse the complainant for fees paid or to make restitution for any loss 
incurred by the complainant. 

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 The risks related to this proposal are: 

The reputation of the Council could be put at risk should it not implement 
remedies recommended by the LGO. 

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 There are no security or terrorism implications identified within the report. 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 There are no procurement implications identified within the report. 

 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 There are no climate change implications identified within the report. 

10 Link to Corporate Priorities 

10.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority  
Engage with our communities and provide value for money, and specifically to 
the achievement of Ensuring fair and open access for our diverse community and  
Effectively communicating what we do and is linked to the statutory duty under 
Section 5(2) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.  

11 Equality and Diversity 

11.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out in connection with 
the proposals that are set out in this report. 

 
Name of author Suzanne Hulks 
Title Governance Services Officer 
Date 11 August 2017 
 

Page 20



- 3 - 

Appendices: 

A  The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review  
  Letter. 
 
B  Statistics on the categories of complaints received. 

C  Statistics on the categories of complaints decided. 

D  Draft decision from the LGO on the upheld complaint.   
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



20 July 2017 

By email 

Michael Saminaden 
Head of Paid Service
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Dear Michael Saminaden, 

Annual Review letter 2017 

I write to you with our annual summary of statistics on the complaints made to the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGO) about your authority for the year ended 31 
March 2017. The enclosed tables present the number of complaints and enquiries received 
about your authority and the decisions we made during the period. I hope this information 
will prove helpful in assessing your authority’s performance in handling complaints.  

The reporting year saw the retirement of Dr Jane Martin after completing her seven year 
tenure as Local Government Ombudsman. I was delighted to be appointed to the role of 
Ombudsman in January and look forward to working with you and colleagues across the 
local government sector in my new role. 

You may notice the inclusion of the ‘Social Care Ombudsman’ in our name and logo. You 
will be aware that since 2010 we have operated with jurisdiction over all registered adult 
social care providers, able to investigate complaints about care funded and arranged 
privately. The change is in response to frequent feedback from care providers who tell us 
that our current name is a real barrier to recognition within the social care sector. We hope 
this change will help to give this part of our jurisdiction the profile it deserves.   

Complaint statistics 

Last year, we provided for the first time statistics on how the complaints we upheld against 
your authority were remedied. This year’s letter, again, includes a breakdown of upheld 
complaints to show how they were remedied. This includes the number of cases where our 
recommendations remedied the fault and the number of cases where we decided your 
authority had offered a satisfactory remedy during the local complaints process. In these 
latter cases we provide reassurance that your authority had satisfactorily attempted to 
resolve the complaint before the person came to us.  

We have chosen not to include a ‘compliance rate’ this year; this indicated a council’s 
compliance with our recommendations to remedy a fault. From April 2016, we established a 
new mechanism for ensuring the recommendations we make to councils are implemented, 
where they are agreed to. This has meant the recommendations we make are more specific, 
and will often include a time-frame for completion. We will then follow up with a council and 
seek evidence that recommendations have been implemented. As a result of this new 
process, we plan to report a more sophisticated suite of information about compliance and 
service improvement in the future.  

This is likely to be just one of several changes we will make to our annual letters and the 
way we present our data to you in the future. We surveyed councils earlier in the year to find 
out, amongst other things, how they use the data in annual letters and what data is the most 
useful; thank you to those officers who responded. The feedback will inform new work to 

Appendix A

Page 23



provide you, your officers and elected members, and members of the public, with more 
meaningful data that allows for more effective scrutiny and easier comparison with other 
councils. We will keep in touch with you as this work progresses. 
 
I want to emphasise that the statistics in this letter comprise the data we hold, and may not 
necessarily align with the data your authority holds. For example, our numbers include 
enquiries from people we signpost back to the authority, but who may never contact you. 
 
In line with usual practice, we are publishing our annual data for all authorities on our 
website. The aim of this is to be transparent and provide information that aids the scrutiny of 
local services. 
 
The statutory duty to report Ombudsman findings and recommendations 

As you will no doubt be aware, there is duty under section 5(2) of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 for your Monitoring Officer to prepare a formal report to the council where 
it appears that the authority, or any part of it, has acted or is likely to act in such a manner as 
to constitute maladministration or service failure, and where the LGO has conducted an 
investigation in relation to the matter. 

This requirement applies to all Ombudsman complaint decisions, not just those that result in 
a public report. It is therefore a significant statutory duty that is triggered in most authorities 
every year following findings of fault by my office. I have received several enquiries from 
authorities to ask how I expect this duty to be discharged. I thought it would therefore be 
useful for me to take this opportunity to comment on this responsibility.   

I am conscious that authorities have adopted different approaches to respond 
proportionately to the issues raised in different Ombudsman investigations in a way that best 
reflects their own local circumstances. I am comfortable with, and supportive of, a flexible 
approach to how this duty is discharged. I do not seek to impose a proscriptive approach, as 
long as the Parliamentary intent is fulfilled in some meaningful way and the authority’s 
performance in relation to Ombudsman investigations is properly communicated to elected 
members.   

As a general guide I would suggest: 

 Where my office has made findings of maladministration/fault in regard to routine 
mistakes and service failures, and the authority has agreed to remedy the complaint 
by implementing the recommendations made following an investigation, I feel that the 
duty is satisfactorily discharged if the Monitoring Officer makes a periodic report to 
the council summarising the findings on all upheld complaints over a specific period.  
In a small authority this may be adequately addressed through an annual report on 
complaints to members, for example.   

 Where an investigation has wider implications for council policy or exposes a more 
significant finding of maladministration, perhaps because of the scale of the fault or 
injustice, or the number of people affected, I would expect the Monitoring Officer to 
consider whether the implications of that investigation should be individually reported 
to members. 

 In the unlikely event that an authority is minded not to comply with my 
recommendations following a finding of maladministration, I would always expect the 
Monitoring Officer to report this to members under section five of the Act. This is an 
exceptional and unusual course of action for any authority to take and should be 
considered at the highest tier of the authority. 

Page 24



The duties set out above in relation to the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 are in 
addition to, not instead of, the pre-existing duties placed on all authorities in relation to 
Ombudsman reports under The Local Government Act 1974. Under those provisions, 
whenever my office issues a formal, public report to your authority you are obliged to lay that 
report before the council for consideration and respond within three months setting out the 
action that you have taken, or propose to take, in response to the report. 

I know that most local authorities are familiar with these arrangements, but I happy to 
discuss this further with you or your Monitoring Officer if there is any doubt about how to 
discharge these duties in future. 

Manual for Councils 
 
We greatly value our relationships with council Complaints Officers, our single contact points 
at each authority. To support them in their roles, we have published a Manual for Councils, 
setting out in detail what we do and how we investigate the complaints we receive. When we 
surveyed Complaints Officers, we were pleased to hear that 73% reported they have found 
the manual useful. 
 
The manual is a practical resource and reference point for all council staff, not just those 
working directly with us, and I encourage you to share it widely within your organisation. The 
manual can be found on our website www.lgo.org.uk/link-officers  
  
Complaint handling training 
 
Our training programme is one of the ways we use the outcomes of complaints to promote 
wider service improvements and learning. We delivered an ambitious programme of 75 
courses during the year, training over 800 council staff and more 400 care provider staff. 
Post-course surveys showed a 92% increase in delegates’ confidence in dealing with 
complaints. To find out more visit www.lgo.org.uk/training 
 
 
Yours sincerely 

 

 
 

Michael King 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman for England  

Chair, Commission for Local Administration in England

Page 25

http://www.lgo.org.uk/link-officers
http://www.lgo.org.uk/training


Local Authority Report: Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 
For the Period Ending: 31/03/2017 
 
For further information on how to interpret our statistics, please visit our website: 
http://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/interpreting-local-authority-statistics 
 
 

Complaints and enquiries received 
 

Adult Care 
Services 

Benefits and 
Tax 

Corporate 
and Other 
Services 

Education 
and 

Children’s 
Services 

Environment 
Services 

Highways 
and 

Transport 
Housing 

Planning and 
Development 

Other Total 

0 9 1 0 4 2 4 7 0 27 

 
 
 

Decisions made 
 

Detailed Investigations  

Incomplete or 
Invalid 

Advice Given 
Referred back 

for Local 
Resolution 

Closed After 
Initial 

Enquiries 
Not Upheld Upheld Uphold Rate Total 

2 1 11 6 1 1 50% 22 

Notes Complaints Remedied   

Our uphold rate is calculated in relation to the total number of detailed investigations. 
 

The number of remedied complaints may not equal the number of upheld complaints. 
This is because, while we may uphold a complaint because we find fault, we may not 
always find grounds to say that fault caused injustice that ought to be remedied. 

by LGO 
Satisfactorily by 

Authority before LGO 
Involvement 

  

1 0   

P
age 26

http://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/interpreting-local-authority-statistics


Appendix B

Reference Authority Category Received

1 15013442 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Planning & Development 26-May-16

2 15018081 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 25-Jan-17

3 16000706 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Planning & Development 18-Apr-16

4 16000936 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Benefits & Tax 21-Apr-16

5 16001201 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Benefits & Tax 28-Apr-16

6 16002581 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Planning & Development 24-May-16

7 16002602 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Housing 29-Jul-16

8 16002626 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Housing 25-May-16

9 16004969 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 07-Jul-16

10 16005364 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Benefits & Tax 14-Jul-16

11 16006924 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Highways & Transport 15-Aug-16

12 16008076 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Housing 06-Sep-16

13 16008164 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 22-Sep-16

14 16008625 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Highways & Transport 16-Sep-16

15 16009663 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Corporate & Other Services 03-Oct-16

16 16010147 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Benefits & Tax 12-Oct-16

17 16011319 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Benefits & Tax 10-Jan-17

18 16011350 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Planning & Development 23-Mar-17

19 16011500 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Planning & Development 07-Nov-16

20 16012956 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Benefits & Tax 02-Dec-16

21 16013485 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Planning & Development 13-Dec-16

22 16013645 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Benefits & Tax 15-Dec-16

23 16014113 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Housing 03-Jan-17

24 16015054 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Benefits & Tax 18-Jan-17

25 16016060 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Planning & Development 03-Feb-17

26 16016823 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 16-Feb-17

27 16018354 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Benefits & Tax 13-Mar-17

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C

Reference Authority Category Decision Date Decision Remedy

1 15013442 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Planning & Development 01-Jul-16 Closed after initial enquiries Null

2 16000706 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Planning & Development 26-Oct-16 Upheld Financial Redress

3 16000936 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Benefits & Tax 21-Apr-16 Referred back for local resolution Null

4 16001201 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Benefits & Tax 25-Aug-16 Not Upheld Null

5 16002581 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Planning & Development 24-May-16 Referred back for local resolution Null

6 16002602 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Housing 22-Aug-16 Referred back for local resolution Null

7 16002626 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Housing 25-May-16 Incomplete/Invalid Null

8 16004969 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 03-Aug-16 Closed after initial enquiries Null

9 16005364 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Benefits & Tax 14-Jul-16 Referred back for local resolution Null

10 16006924 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Highways & Transport 22-Sep-16 Closed after initial enquiries Null

11 16008076 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Housing 06-Sep-16 Advice given Null

12 16008625 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Highways & Transport 09-Nov-16 Closed after initial enquiries Null

13 16009663 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Corporate & Other Services 03-Oct-16 Incomplete/Invalid Null

14 16010147 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Benefits & Tax 12-Oct-16 Referred back for local resolution Null

15 16011319 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Benefits & Tax 13-Feb-17 Closed after initial enquiries Null

16 16011500 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Planning & Development 07-Nov-16 Referred back for local resolution Null

17 16012956 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Benefits & Tax 02-Dec-16 Referred back for local resolution Null

18 16013485 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Planning & Development 13-Dec-16 Referred back for local resolution Null

19 16013645 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Benefits & Tax 08-Feb-17 Closed after initial enquiries Null

20 16015054 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Benefits & Tax 18-Jan-17 Referred back for local resolution Null

21 16016060 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Planning & Development 03-Feb-17 Referred back for local resolution Null

22 16016823 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 16-Feb-17 Referred back for local resolution Null

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

19 August 2016 

Complaint reference: 
16 000 706

Complaint against:
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

The Ombudsman’s draft decision
Summary: Mr X says the Council is at fault in its handling of a 
planning application made by his neighbour and his subsequent 
reports of breaches of planning control. The Ombudsman has found 
some evidence of fault and she recommends the Council apologises 
to Mr X and pay him £100 in recognition of the time and trouble 
caused to him. 

The complaint
1. Mr X says the Council is at fault in its handling of a planning application submitted

by his neighbour. In particular Mr X says the Council did not consider his 
objections properly and it failed to include a condition to protect the privacy of his 
home. He also says the Council has failed to take timely and appropriate 
enforcement action against breaches of planning control at the site. Mr X says 
this matter has caused him and his wife distress, anxiety, financial loss and had a 
detrimental impact on the amenity of his home. 

The Ombudsman’s role and powers
2. The Ombudsman investigates complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service

failure’. In this statement, I have used the word fault to refer to these. She must 
also consider whether any fault has had an adverse impact on the person making 
the complaint. I refer to this as ‘injustice’. If there has been fault which has caused 
an injustice, she may suggest a remedy. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and
26A(1))

3. The Ombudsman cannot question whether a council’s decision is right or wrong
simply because the complainant disagrees with it. She must consider whether
there was fault in the way the decision was reached. (Local Government Act 1974,
section 34(3))

How I considered this complaint
4. As part of my investigation I discussed the complaint with Mr X and considered

information provided by him. I also made enquiries of the Council and considered 
its reply and documents it provided. 

Appendix D

Page 31



    

Draft decision for your comments 2

What I found
Key facts

5. Mr X and his wife own a bungalow which has a garden with a decking area. The 
Council has granted Mr and Mrs X planning permission for a loft conversion with 
dormer window but they have not yet implemented this. 

6. In October 2015 the Council received a planning application for a property 
neighbouring Mr X’s home. The application sought permission for the erection of 
a single storey side/rear extension, including extending the roof to form a 
habitable room. 

7. The Council notified Mr and Mrs X about the application. In response they wrote 
to the Council setting out their objections to the application. These included 
concerns about the loss of privacy and sunlight to their home and the impact of 
the proposal on the planning permission granted to them for a loft conversion. 
The Council did not reply to their letter of objection. 

8. The case officer for the application considered the proposal and set out her 
thoughts in a report. In this, she considered the impact of the proposal on 
neighbouring properties including Mr and Mrs X’s. The report also set out the 
objections made by Mr and Mrs X although these were wrongly attributed to 
another address. 

9. In December the Council approved planning permission for the application, 
subject to conditions. The Council did not include a condition requiring the dormer 
windows to be obscure glazed. 

10. Unhappy with the decision Mr X complained to the Council in January 2016. The 
Council replied the following month but did not uphold his complaint.

11. On 8 February Mr X contacted the Council’s Planning Enforcement department 
about concerns he had regarding works at the neighbouring property including 
the height of the extension and the dormer windows. The Council sent Mr X an 
automated acknowledgement. 

12. The planning enforcement officer spoke with Mr X on 18 February and advised 
him that a case had been opened and was being investigated. He apologised for 
the delay in contacting Mr X. 

13. On 23 February the enforcement officer visited the site and concluded there were 
differences between the approved plans and what was being built on site. The 
officer contacted the agent for the site and explained his concerns. It was agreed 
that the agent would submit a ‘Section 73’ application to regularise these 
differences. The officer telephoned Mr X and updated him. 

14. Mr X contacted the Council a few days later following a conversation with his 
neighbour’s agent during which the agent had refuted that there were any 
concerns at the site. In response to Mr X’s call the Council revisited the site.

15. In early March Mr X contacted the enforcement officer to see if he had visited the 
site again. It does not appear the Council replied to Mr X’s email. 

Page 32



    

Draft decision for your comments 3

16. Meanwhile the enforcement officer contacted the agent again regarding the 
submission of a Section 73 application which he still considered necessary due to 
breaches of planning permission at the site. 

17. The Council received the Section 73 application that month and notified Mr and 
Mrs X following its validation. 

18. Mr and Mrs X have submitted objections to the Section 73 application and 
instructed a solicitor to help them do so. 

Analysis 
19. Mr X has a number of concerns regarding the Council’s handling of the initial 

application submitted by his neighbour and its handling of his subsequent 
complaints to the enforcement team. I will now address Mr X’s concerns as set 
out in his letter to the Ombudsman. 

Consideration of Mr X’s objections to the initial application submitted by his 
neighbour 

20. Mr X sent a letter setting out his objections to the application in November. The 
Council did not reply to his letter. Mr X says this is fault by the Council. I do not 
agree. The Council must consider the contents of objection letters it receives but 
it does not have to respond to each letter individually. 

21. The Council only notified Mr X about the application and did not notify other 
adjoining owner/occupiers. Mr X contends this is also fault by the Council. 
However, Mr X was notified about the application and was able comment on it 
and so he has not been disadvantaged by the fault he claims. 

22. Mr X says the case officer did not visit the site and so could not have properly 
understood the impact of the proposal and his objections. I do not agree. The 
Council says the case officer did visit the site and I have no reason to believe this 
did not occur. Nevertheless there is no requirement for case officers to visit an 
application site when determining an application. Case officers may consider the 
impact of the proposal using the plans, local knowledge and internet tools. 

23. In his letter of objection Mr X set out his concern that a proposed Juliet balcony 
would overlook his garden and deck. For this reason Mr X suggested the balcony 
should be fitted with a rail guard and inward opening windows. The case officer’s 
report considered the impact of the balcony on the amenity of Mr X’s home. The 
case officer acknowledged it would result in some overlooking of Mr X’s garden 
but concluded this was not significant enough to warrant refusal of the application. 
Therefore while I appreciate Mr X disagrees with the case officer’s view and is 
disappointed she did not act on his suggestion the report clearly demonstrates 
that she had regard to his concerns. 

24. Mr X’s objection letter also explained his concerns that the proposed dormer 
windows were too big and would appear overbearing. He also said the windows 
would have a negative impact on the privacy of his home as they would overlook 
his bedroom, kitchen and deck. He proposed the windows were scaled back and 
fitted with obscure glazing. Again the case officer’s report discussed this matter 
with the conclusion that the dormers windows would not result in any loss of 
privacy to Mr X’s home. While I recognise Mr X disagrees the report 
demonstrates that his concerns were considered and therefore I cannot conclude 
there is evidence of fault in how the Council determined this matter. 

25. Lastly Mr X objected to the application on the grounds that he had been granted 
planning permission for a loft conversion. He contended the proposal would 

Page 33



    

Draft decision for your comments 4

prevent him or future owners from acting on the planning permission as any loft 
conversion would be overlooked by the dormer windows proposed in the 
application. The case officer’s report did not discuss this matter. This is fault by 
the Council As the report should have addressed the substantive objections made 
against an application. 

26. As part of my enquiries I asked the Council to consider the relationship between 
Mr X’s home and his neighbour’s in the event that Mr X implements the planning 
permission granted to him. In its reply the Council explained that two of the three 
dormer windows to the neighbouring property do not serve habitable rooms and 
so overlooking would be unlikely. The Council explained the third dormer window 
would serve a bedroom. However because of its position in relation to the 
obscure glazed dormer window on the plans approved for Mr X’s loft conversion it 
would be unlikely there would be any direct overlooking between the loft 
conversions. For this reason the Council does not consider the overlooking would 
be significant and it would not have warranted it refusing Mr X’s neighbour’s 
application. 

27. For the reasons set out above I do not consider the Council’s failure to include a 
discussion about the planning permission granted to Mr X in the case officer’s 
report altered the outcome of the application. Therefore I cannot conclude that 
Mr X has been caused injustice as a result of the fault I found. 

28. Lastly Mr X says the Council wrongly attributed his objections to another 
neighbouring property. I agree. The Council should have taken greater care to 
ensure its report was accurate. However the case officer’s report clearly 
considered the impact of the proposal on Mr X’s home and so I do not see this 
error affected the consideration of the application. 

Failure to include a condition for obscure glazing 
29. Mr X says the Council is at fault for failing to include a condition to the planning 

permission it granted his neighbour requiring the dormer windows to be obscure 
glazed. I agree. The case officer’s report of the application set out that the dormer 
windows facing another property neighbouring the application site (not Mr X’s 
home) would overlook that property. To mitigate this the case officer said the 
relevant dormer windows would be obscure glazed. I therefore conclude that a 
condition requiring this should have been included to the planning permission it 
granted. 

30. However the case officer made no such recommendation regarding the dormer 
windows facing Mr X’s home. Therefore I cannot conclude that Mr X has been 
caused an injustice as a result of the Council’s failure to include this condition. 

The Council’s handling of Mr X’s enforcement reports
31. Mr X says the Council has failed to take timely action in response to his report of 

breaches of the planning permission granted to his neighbour. I do not agree. The 
Council’s enforcement plan states that it will aim to investigate reports of planning 
breaches of the type reported by Mr X within 15 working days. Mr X first reported 
the breaches on 8 February and the Council visited the site on 23 February. This 
is within the 15 working day target. 

32. Following its visit, the Council asked the agent to submit a Section 73 planning 
application. This is the type of application required when a person carries out 
works which do not meet the approved plans. It is for the Council to determine 
what enforcement action, if any, it is expedient to take. The Council having visited 
the site concluded that the submission of an application to allow the changes was 

Page 34



    

Draft decision for your comments 5

the best way forward. I do not consider the Council is at fault regarding the action 
it has decided to take. 

33. I do however recognise the Council has not always updated Mr X about the 
enforcement action it has taken or replied to his emails chasing an update. This is 
fault by the Council. 

34. Lastly I note that Mr X has expressed concerns regarding the Council’s 
consideration of the Section 73 application submitted to the Council. I understand 
the Council has notified Mr X about the application and he has commented on 
this. The application has yet to be determined and for this reason it is not 
appropriate for the Ombudsman to comment further on this matter now. 

Recommended action
35. I have identified fault by the Council for inaccuracies in its case officer’s report 

and for failing to include a discussion about Mr X’s planning permission for a loft 
conversion. This has caused Mr X uncertainty and put him to the unnecessary 
time and trouble of pursuing this matter with the Council and the Ombudsman. 
Mr X has also been caused additional time and trouble as a result of the Council’s 
failure to reply to his emails regarding enforcement action. I acknowledge the 
Council has already apologised to Mr X for these failings however I think it would 
be appropriate for the Council to pay him £100 in recognition of the time and 
trouble he has been caused. 

Draft decision
36. I have found some evidence of fault by the Council and I recommend it takes the 

action set out about to remedy the injustice caused to Mr X. I have not found any 
evidence of fault which would have altered the outcome of the application or in 
the substantive action taken by the Council to address breaches of planning 
control at Mr X’s neighbour’s home. 

Investigator’s draft decision on behalf of the Ombudsman 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 MEMBER OFFICER PROTOCOL
	06a Appendix A PROTOCOL ON MEMBER

	6 LOCAL GOVERNMENT OMBUDSMAN REPORT
	07a Appendix A Annual Review letter
	07b Appendix B Complaints Received
	07c Appendix C Complaints Decided
	07d Appendix D Draft Decision


